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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT R
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO “y
EASTERN DIVISION "(

United States Securities and : “ <
Exchange Commission. : S

Plainii.ff, f%%@v 09 3 8

David A. Dadante, and
IPOF Fund.

JUDGE BOYKO

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff. United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission™)
alleges and states as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. From at least 1999 through November 2005, Dadante, acting by and
through his unrcgistered investment company. the [POF Fund (“IPOF™ or “the Fund").
raised approximately $50 million from at least 110 investors by soliciting them to
purchase unregistered limited partnership interests in IPOF. Dadante iured investors with
promises that he and [POF would invest their funds in low risk and high return trading
strategies. In fact, Dadante and IPOF never invested the funds as promised. Rather
Dadante. acting as an unregistered investment adviser to IPOF. misappropriated investor
funds for his own use. operated IPOF as a Ponzi scheme, and pursued an undisclosed

high-risk investment strategy.
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2. Defendant David A. Dadante, directly and indirectly. has engaged and,
unless enjoined, will continue to engage in transactions, acts, practices and courses of
business which constitute and will constitute violations of Sections 5(a). 5(c), and 17(a)
of the Securities Act of 1933 (Securities Act™)[15U.S.C. §77¢(a). 77¢ (c). and 77q(a)].
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (““Exchange Act™) [15 U.S.C.
§78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder [17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5] and Sections
206(1) and 206(2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act™) [15 U.S.C.
§80b-6(1) and (2)].

3. Defendant IPOF directly and indirectly, has engaged and, unless enjoined.
will continue to engage in transactions, acts, practices and courses of business which
constitute and will constitute violations of Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a) of the Sccurities
Act [15U.S.C. §77e(a). 77¢ (c). and 77q(a)]. Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C. §78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder [17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5] and
Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (“Investment Company Act” [15
U.S.C. § 80a-7(a)].

4. The Commission brings this action to enjoin such transactions, acts,
practices and course of business pursuant to Section 20(b) of the Securities Act [15
U.S.C. §77t(b)], Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78u(d)], Section 42(d)} of
the Investment Company Act [15 U.S.C. §80a-41], and Section 209(d) of the Advisers

Act [15 U.S.C. §80b-9].
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DEFENDANTS

5. David A. Dadante, age 51, resides in Gates Mills. Ohio. He is the founder

and was the sole general partner of IPOF. Dadante raised money for IPOF by offering
and selling securities in [IPOF. Dadante controlled all of IPOF’s bank and brokerage
accounts. Dadante. for compensation, gave investment advice to [POF and the [POF
investors. Dadante is not registered with the Commission as an investment adviser or in
any other capacity.

6. IPOF Fund is an Ohio limited partnership established in 1999 and
controlled by Dadante. From its inception. IPOF has been held out by Dadantc as being
engaged in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. From 1999
through 2005. [POF. through David Dadante, engaged in the public oftering of its
sceurities. IPOF had at least 110 investor limited partners and approximately $50 million
in asscts under management. During that period, IPOF was not registered as an
investment company or in any other capacity. No registration statement was filed or is in
effect with the Commission in connection with any securities offered or sold by IPOF
through Dadante.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Sections 20(c) and
22(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77t(b) and §77v(a)]. Sections 21(e) and 27 of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78u(e) and §78aa] and 28 U.S.C. §1331. Sections 42(d) and
44 of the Investment Company Act [15 U.S.C. §80a-41 and §80a-43], and Sections

209(d) and 214 of the Advisers Act of 1940 [15 U.S.C. §80b-9 and §80b-14].

(F)
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8. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities
Act [15U.S.C. §77v(a)]. Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78aa]. Section 44
of the Investment Company Act [15 U.S.C. §80a-43]. and Section 214 of the Advisers
Act [15 U.S.C. §80b-14]. Certain of the sales, transactions. acts, practices. and courses of
business alleged herein occurred in the Northern District of Ohio, and Defendants can be
found in. transact business in. and/or are inhabitants of the Northern District of Ohio.

9. Defendants have made usc of the mails and of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce in connection with the transactions, acts.
practices, and courses of business alleged herein that occurred within the jurisdiction of
the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio.

FACTS

The 1POF Offering

10.  From at least 1999 through 2005. Dadante. through IPOF, raised
approximately $50 million from at least 110 investors in five states.
11.  Dadante told investors that [POF was a limited partnership in which he

was the general partner and each investor was a limited partner.

12.  Dadante also gave investors offering documents entitled the
“Acknowledgment.”
13.  The Acknowledgement stated that investors’ funds would be pooled with

other investors’ funds in order to purchase stock in the initial public offering of publicly
held companies.
14.  The Acknowledgement also indicated thai IPGF. through Dadante, had

sole discretion to make investment decisions for TPOF.
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15.  IPOF’s investors had no role in choosing which securities [POF bought or
sold.

16.  The Acknowledgement stated that Dadante was to be paid by IPOF for his
investment advice. However, according to the Acknowledgement. Dadante was not to
receive any compensation unless [POF earned profits.

17. IPOF solicited investors in a public offering. Specifically, IPOF did not
limit the offering in terms of size or numbers of investors. and Dadante. through TPOF.
solicited investors by mailing IPOF’s offering documents and advertising materials to
investors and potential investors in Ohio and other states.

18. The majority of the IPOF investors live in and around Cleveland, Ohio.

19. No valid registration statement was filed or was in effect with the
Commission in connection with the sale of securities in [POF.

Dadante and 1POKF’s Fraudulent Scheme

20. During the course of [POF s offering, Dadante told investors orally and in
writing that IPOF earned its profits by buying and selling stocks during the initial public
offerings of companies.

21.  After managing [POF for several years. Dadante told investors that he
changed the strategy of the Fund to engage in large block equity day trading to eam its
profits.

22.  Dadante told investors that this large block equity day trading strategy
involved the Fund buying a large position in publicly traded companies and then, in the

samc day, selling out the whole position at a profit.
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23.  During the course of the offering, Dadante solicited investors to purchase
limited partnership interests in IPOF by making oral representations concerning IPOF’s
historic returns. guaranteed investor returns, and the manner in which [POF would use
investors’ funds. and by distributing the Acknowledgment.

24. As part of his scheme, Dadante solicited investors by claiming in the
Acknowledgement that IPOF had historical returns of 26% and 32% in its first two yecars
of existence.

25.  Dadante also solicited investors in IPOF by guaranteeing returns to the
investors in the Acknowledgement of 1.67% per month, 3% to 4% per quarter, or 10% to
20% per year, depending on the amount and the timing of the investment.

20. In furtherance of his scheme, Dadante explained to investors that their
money was pooled and protected in a money market account at Goldman Sachs.

27. Dadante told investors that the money market account at Goldman Sachs
paid interest to IPOF and that he only used the money from these interest payments to
buy and sell securities for IPOF.

28. Dadante told investors that because he only used the interest earned in the
moncy market account to trade, their principal was never placed at risk.

29.  Dadante also told investors that he worked with a Goldman Sachs’ vice-
chairman to manage IPOF’s assets and that he received investment advice from this
person regarding [POF s investment strategies.

30 Dadante also distributed purported Goldman Sachs™ account statements for
TPOF to investors that that he represented were prepared and issued by Goldman Sachs

that stated that the Fund held over $50 million in a money market account at Goldman
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Sachs and these statements included a name of a Goldman Sachs’ vice-chairman as
IPOF s purported Goldman Sachs’ representative.

31.  Dadante told investors that Goldman Sachs sent him checks for IPOF's
trading profits. He showed investors copies of purported Goldman Sachs' distribution
checks madc payable to IPOF.

32.  Dadante also reported to certain investors on a daily basis the stocks that
IPOF had purportedly traded on a particular day and the resulting profits.

33.  Dadante prepared and issued investors periodic individual IPOF account
statements that reflected purported returns that met or exceeded the historical and
guaranteed returns in the IPOF offering documents.

Dadante’s Misuse of Investors’ Funds

34. Dadante and IPOF did not use the investors’ money to buy or sell stock in
initial public offerings or to pursue a large block equity day trading strategy.

35.  Dadante and IPOF did not place the investors’ money in a money market
account at Goldman Sachs.

36.  Dadante and IPOF also did not have any business relationship with
Goldman Sachs or any Goldman Sachs employee.

37.  Inreality, Dadante primarily operated IPOF as a Ponzi scheme. He and
IPOF used millions of dollars of new investors’ principal to pay other investors the
purported IPOF guaranteed returns.

38.  Furthermore, the purported Goldman Sachs™ money market fund account
statements and checks were not created or issued by Goidman Sachs. Dadante, either

created these documents or caused somebody else to create these documents.
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39.  Dadante’s and IPOF s representations that IPOF’s historical returns of
26% and 32% in [POF s first two years of existence were also false. In fact, [POF was
not profitable in any year from 1999 to 2005.

40.  Dadante and IPOF had no reasonable basis to guarantee returns of 1.67%
per month, 3% to 4% per quarter, or 10% to 20% per year. [POF did not generate thege
types of returns in any period. IPOF did not have the investments or business operations
to provide a basis for these levels of guaranteed returns.

41.  The IPOF account statemeﬁts that Dadante issued to investors which
indicated that IPOF had met or exceeded the purported historical and guaranteed returns
were also false, because IPOF did not eam any returns.

42.  Nevertheless. Dadante diverted millions of dollars of IPOF s investors’
money to himself, his wife, his children, and other accounts that he controlled.

43.  Asaresult of his misuse of a substantial portion of the funds invested in
IPOF in the manner described in paragraphs 37 and 42 above, it was extremely unlikely
that IPOF would carn the retumn represented through its purported trading strategies.

44.  Dadante used the vast majority of the remaining IPOF investor funds to
make a speculative investment in the stock of a small-cap public company that was traded

on the NASDAQ over-the-counter market.

45.  IPOF’s purchase of this stock was not during the company s initial public
offering.
46.  IPOF’s purchase of this stock was also not consistent with the large block

equity day trading sirategy. which Dadante claimed IPOF utilized. Among other things,



Case 1:06-cv-00938"CTAB  Document 1-1  Filed 04/18™006 Page 9 of 15

Dadante simply accumulated the stock over a long period of time. instead of buying and
selling on the same day for a profit.

47. Over a two year period, Dadante accumulated four million shares of this
company or approximately 35% of this company's outstanding shares.

49.  Dadante used [POF’s investors’ principal to buy some shares of this small-
cap public company. However, due to his misappropriation and misuse of investors’
funds. and his use of investors™ funds to pay the purported returns, Dadante needed to tap
into margin accounts to purchase enough shares to attempt to make up the difference.
Dadante’s and IPOF s leverage of these shares caused IPOF to incur millions of dollars
of margin liability, thereby substantially increasing the investment risk to IPOF’s
investors.

50.  When the price of the stock owned by IPOF decreased. it was subject to
sale to satisfy margin calls made by the broker-dealers at which it was held.

51.  Inaddition, Dadante placed a significant portion of the shares of this
small-cap public company into his personal accounts and into accounts in the name of
other entities, besides [POF, that he controlled.

COUNTI

Violations of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act of 1933
[15 U.S.C. § 77¢(a) and (¢)]

wn
[§S]

Paragraphs 1 through 51 above arc realleged and incorporated herein by

reference.
53. By their conduct, Dadante and [POF. directly or indirectly: (1) made use
of means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of

the mails to sell, through the use or medium of a prospectus or otherwise. securities as to

9
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which no registration statement was in effect; (ii) for the purpose of sale or delivery after
sale, carried or caused to be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce, by any
means or instruments of transportation, securities as to which no registration statement
was in effect; and (iii) made use of any means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy.
through the use or medium of a prospectus or otherwise. securities as to which no
registration statement had been filed.

54.  No valid registration statement was filed or was in effect with the
Commission in connection with sale of securities in [POF.

55. By reason of the foregoing, Dadante and IPOF violated Sections 5(a) and

5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77e(a) and (c)].

COUNT I

Violations of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act of 1933
[15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1)]

56. Paragraphs 1 through 51 above are realleged and incorporated herein by
reference.

57. By their conduct. Dadante and IPOF, in the offer or sale of securities in
IPOF, by the use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication in
interstate commerce and by the use of the mails, directly or indirectly. have employed
devices. schemes or artifices to defraud.

38. Dadante and IPOF knew. or were reckless in not knowing. the facts and

circumstances described in this Complaint.

10
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59. By reason of the foregoing, Dadante and [POF violated Section 17(a)(1) of

the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1)].

COUNT 111

Violations of Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933
[15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and 77q(a)}(3)]

60.  Paragraphs I through 51 above are realleged and incorporated herein by
reference.
61. By their conduct. Dadante and IPOF, in the offer or sale of securities in

IPOF. by the use of any means or instruments of transportation and communication in
interstate commerce and by the use of the mails, directly or indirectly, have obtained
money or property by means of untrue statements of material fact or omissions to state
material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light éf the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or have engaged in
transactions, practices. or courses of business which have been or are operating as a fraud
or deceit upon purchasers of securities in IPOF.

62. By reason of the foregoing, Dadante and IPOF violated Sections 17(a)(2)
and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and 77q(a)(3)].

COUNT 1V

Violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 [15 U.S.C.
§78i(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]

63.  Paragraphs 1 through 51 above are realleged and incorporated herein by

reference.

64. By their conduct, Dadante and IPOF, in connection with the purchase or

sale of secuntics in IPOF, by the use of any means or instrumentalities of interstate

11
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commerce or by the use of the mails, directly or indirectly: (a) employed devices,
schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to
state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made. in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts,
practices, or courses of business that operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon
any person.

65. Dadante and IPOF knew, or were reckless in not knowing, the facts and
circumstances described in this Complaint.

66. By reason of the foregoing, Dadante and IPOF violated Section 10(b) of
the Exchange Act of 1934 [15 U.S.C. §78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R.
§240.10b-5].

COUNT v

Violations of Section 206(1) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940
[15 U.S.C. §80b-6(1)]

67.  Paragraphs 1 through 51 above are realleged and incorporated herein by

reference.

68. By his conduct. Dadante, directly or indirectly, by the use of the mails or
any means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, while acting as an investment
adviser, employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud advisory clients or

prospective advisory clients.

69.  Dadante knew or was reckless in not knowing of the activities described in

this complaint.

12
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70. By reason of the foregoing, Dadante violated Section 206(1) of the

Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §80b-6(1)].

COUNT VI

Violations of Section 206(2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940
[15 U.S.C. §80b-6(2)]

71.  Paragraphs 1 through 51 above are realleged and incorporated herein by
reference.

72. By his conduct. Dadante, directly or indirectly. by the use of the mails or
any means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce. while acting as an investment
adviser. engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which operated as a

fraud or deceit upon advisory clients or prospective advisory clients.

73. By reasons of the foregoing. Dadante violated Section 206(2) of the

Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §80b-6(2)].

COUNT VI

Violations of Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Act of 1940

[15 U.S.C. § 80a-7(a)]

74.  Paragraphs 1 through 51 are re-alleged and incorporated by refcrence as

though fully set forth herein.

75.  From in or about 1999 to the present. IPOF held itself out as being, or was,
engaged primarily in the business of investing. reinvesting or trading in securities .

76.

From in or about 1999 to the present, while acting as investment company,

IPOF offered. purchased and sold. redeemed or retired securities by the use of the mails

13
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and the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce and engaged in business in
interstate commerce.

77.  Atno time was IPOF registered with the Commission as an investment
company.

78. By reasons of the foregoing IPOF violated Section 7(a) of the Investment

Company Act [15 U.S.C. § 80a-7(a)].

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff. the United States Securities and Exchange

Commission, respectfully requests that this Court:

A. Find that Dadante and IPOF committed the violations alleged in this
Complaint;
B. Enter orders of permanent injunction in forms consistent with Rule 65(d)

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. restraining and enjoining (1) Dadante, his agents,
servants. employees. and attorneys. and those persons in active concert or participation
with it who receive actual notice of the injunction by personal service or otherwise, and
cach of them, from violating Sections 5(a), 5(c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act [15
U.S.C. §77¢(a), 77e(c) and 77(q)(a)], Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C.
§78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5] promulgated thereunder, and Section
206 of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §80b-6]; and. (2) IPOF, its agents, servants.
employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation with it who
receive actual notice of the injunction by personal service or otherwise, and each of them.
from violating Sections 5(a). 5(c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77¢(a).

77¢e(c) and 77(g)(a)]. Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78j(b)] and Rule

14
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10b-5[17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5] promulgated thereunder, and Section 7(a) of the

Investment Company Act [15 U.S.C. §80a-7(a)];

C. Order Dadante and IPOF to disgorge all ill-gotten gains received by them
as a result of the wrongful conduct set forth in this Complaint, including prejudgment
interest;

D. Order Dadante to pay an appropriate civil penalty for the wrongful
conduct set forth in this Complaint. pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15
U.S.C. §77t(d)]. Sections 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78u(d)(3) and 78u-
1], Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §80b-9(e)]. and Section 42(e) of the
Investment Company Act [15 U.S.C. §80a-41(¢)]:

E. Grant such additional relief as this Court deems appropriate.

Respectfully submitted,

Jeffrey'Levine-IL 6229701
James G. Lundy-IL 6231095
Securities & Exchange Commission
175 W. Jackson, Suite 900
Chicago. Illinois 60604
Telephone: (312) 886-0899
Facsimile: (312) 353-7398

Avpri! 18, 2006

15
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

Civil Categories: (Please check one category only).

1 General Civil

2. [ ] Administrative Review/Social Security
3. [] Habeas Corpus Death Penalty

*If under Title 28, §2255, name the SENTENCING JUDGE: __ _

CASE NUMBER: e

RELATED OR REFILED CASES. See LR 3.1 which provides in pertinent part: "If an action is filed or removad to this Court
and assigned to a District Judge after which it is discontinued, dismissed or remanded to a State court, and
subsequently refiled, it shall be assigned to the same Judge who received the initial case assignment without regardfor
the place of holding court in which the case was refiled. Counsel or a parly without counsel shall be responsible for
bringing such cases to the attention of the Court by responding to the questions included on the Civil Cover Sheet.”

This action is RELATED to another PENDING civil case. This action is I:l REFILED pursuant io LR 3.1.

If applicable, please indicate on page 1 in section VIlI, the name of the Judge and case number.

In accordance with Local Civil Rule 3.8, actions involving counties in the Eastern Division shall be filed at any of the
divisional offices therein. Actions involving counties in the Western Division shall be filed at the Toledo office. For the
purpose of determining the proper division, and for statistical reasons, the following information is requested.

ANSWER ONE PARAGRAPH ONLY. ANSWER PARAGRAPHS 1 THRU 3 IN ORDER. UPON FINDING WHICH
PARAGRAPH APPLIES TO YOUR CASE, ANSWER IT AND STOP.

{1) Resident defendant. If the defendant resides in a county within this district, please set forth the name of such
county

COUNTY:

Corporatior; For the purpose of answering the above, a corporation is deemed to be a resident of that county in which
it has its principal place of business in that district.

(2) Non-Resident defendant. If no defendant is a resident of a county in this district, please set forth the county
wherein the cause of action arose or the event complained of occurred.

COUNTY:

(3) Other Cases. If no defendant is a resident of this district, or if the defendant is a corporation not having a principle

place of business within the district, and the cause of action arose or the event complained of occurred outside
this district, please set forth the county of the plaintiff's residence.
COUNTY:

The Counties in the Northern District of Ohio are divided into divisions &s shown below. After the county is
determined in Section ill, please check the appropriate division.

EASTERN DIVISION

D AKRON {Counties: Carroll, Holmes, Portage, Stark, Summit, Tuscarawas and Wayne)
CLEVELAND (Counties: Ashland, Ashtabula, Crawford, Cuyahoga, Geauga, Lake,

1 Lorain, Medina and Richland)
| i YOUNGSTOWN (Counties: Columbiana, Mahoning and Trumbuil)

WESTERN DIVISION

D TOLEDO (Counties: Allen, Auglaize, Defiance, Erie, Fulton, Hancock, Hardin, Henvy,
Huron, Lucas, Marion, Mercer, Ottawa, Paulding, Putnam, Sandusky, Seneca
VanWert, Williams, Wood and Wyandot)



